#### IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**DANIEL EDMONDS** 

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

v.

**CIVIL ACTION NO. 2008-CA-00759** 

ROBINSON PROPERTY GROUP, LIMITED PARTNERSHIP d/b/a HORSESHOE CASINO & HOTEL TUN! CA

**DEFENDANT-APPELLEE** 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TUNICA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

(Oral Argument Not Requested)

#### **COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT:**

J. KEVIN RUNDLETT, MSBN RUNDLETT LAW FIRM, PLLC 125 SOUTH CONGRESS STREET SUITE 1200 JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39201 TELEPHONE: (601) 353-8504 FACSIMILE: (601) 353-8506 E-MAIL:kevin@rundlettlawfirm.com

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### DANIEL EDMONDS

PLAINTIFF-APPELANT

#### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

On April 14, 2008, the Circuit Court of Tunica County, Mississippi, Honorable Albert B. Smith, presiding, granted directed verdict in favor of Defendant/Appellee.

On March 13, 2008, the Circuit Court of Tunica County, Mississippi, Honorable Albert B. Smith, presiding, denied Plaintiff/Appellant's Amended Motion for Citation for Contempt and Sanctions.

Pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff/Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on April 30, 2008..

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Daniel Edmonds, Plaintiff-Appellant herein, being aggrieved by the judgment of the Circuit Court of Tunica County, Mississippi, as rendered in civil action number 2005-0286, hereby prosecutes this, his Appeal, to the Supreme Court of Mississippi.

The Appellant respectfully submits the following issues for review by the Court:

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING EDMONDS' AMENDED MOTION FOR CITATION FOR CONTEMPT AND SANCTIONS, AND MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS, AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN NOT ALLOWING EDMONDS TO ARGUE SAID MOTION.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DIRECTED VERDICT TO ROBINSON.

Each of the above issues requires reversal of the judgment rendered in civil action number

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

# A. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below.

This is a personal injury action filed by Daniel Edmonds ("Edmonds") against Robinson Property Group, Limited Partnership d/b/a Horseshoe Casino & Hotel Tunica ("Robinson"). The course of proceedings in this civil action is briefly summarized below:

September 28, 2005	-	Edmonds files original complaint against Harrah's Tunica Corporation dba Horseshoe Casino and Hotel Tunica. (CP 17-21).
September 28, 2005	-	Edmonds files Notice of Service of Discovery including Interrogatories, Request for Production of Documents, and Admissions. (CP- 24-25).
November 1, 2005	-	Harrah's Tunica Corporation files answer denies any knowledge as to the incident at issue. (CP- 38-39).
November 1, 2005	-	Harrah's Tunica Corporation files its Notice of Service of Discovery propounded on the plaintiff and responses to discovery propounded by the plaintiff denying the existence of any video or other related documents. (CP- 40-42).
January 19, 2006	-	Edmonds files Motion to Amend Complaint to substitute Robinson as proper party defendant. (CP- 56-58).
January 23, 2006	-	Harrah's Tunica Corporation agrees to amended complaint. (CP- 63-64).
February 10, 2006	-	Edmonds requests issuance of Subpoena Duces Tecum regarding video surveillance of incident at issue. (CP- 65)
February 13, 2006	-	Order allowing amended complaint entered. (CP- 67-68).
February 14, 2006	-	Robinson files objection to Subpoena Duces Tecum. (CP-70-71).
February 15, 2006	-	Robinson served with Subpoena Duces Tecum requesting video surveillance tapes, incident reports, and all documents for February 8, 2005 through February 15, 2005. (CP-79-82).
February 21, 2006	-	Edmonds files Amended Complaint. (CP- 73-78).

March 6, 2006	-	Robinson files Answer to Amended Complaint denying any knowledge of the incident at issue. (CP- 84-86).
May 19, 2006	-	Edmonds filed a Motion to Compel Discovery requesting the production of any videotapes of the incident. (CP- 91-95).
May 22, 2006	-	Edmonds files Notice of Service of Discovery and serves Robinson with Interrogatories, Requests for Production, and Requests for Admissions. (CP- 113).
May 24, 2006	-	Robinson acknowledges the correct date of the incident as being on or about February 11, 2005 in response to Edmonds Motion to Compel, and further claims that best efforts were used to locate the requested documents and video tape with no success. (CP- 120-121).
June 20, 2006	-	Robinson responds to Edmonds' Request for Production of Documents claiming the requested documents did not exist. (CP- 126).
September 1, 2006	-	Robinson files Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP- 137-140).
December 7, 2006	-	Edmonds brought on for hearing his Motion to Compel Discovery, Robinson brought on for hearing his Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP- 227-230).
December 22, 2006	-	Following the hearing on Edmonds' Motion to Compel Discovery, the trial court ordered Robinson to "make all reasonable efforts to locate all video surveillance tapes for the dates of February 10, 11 and 12, 2005, and should [Robinson] be unable to procure same, provide [Edmonds] with the written policy, internal operating procedure, manual, handbook, or otherwise for the maintaining of all video surveillance tapes and disposal of same." (CP- 236-237). The Court also granted Robinson partial summary judgment. (CP-232-233).
January 15, 2007	-	Edmonds receives videotape of the incident from Robinson some year and a half following the filing of the Complaint and following being compelled by the trial court and following the granting of partial summary judgment in its favor. (CP- 263).
February 28, 2007	-	Edmonds filed his Motion for Citation for Contempt and

A. Maria

Sanctions, which was based upon the video surveillance tape of the incident, that had been requested since September of 2005, ultimately being produced following the granting of partial summary judgment to Robinson, and following the Order of the trial court compelling the productions of same. (CP- 254-306).

April 5, 2007

Edmonds' Motion for Citation for Contempt and Sanctions was brought on for hearing. (CP-324).

May 4, 2007

Having apparently found that the non-disclosure of the video surveillance tape to be suspicious and possibly intentional, the trial court entered an Amended Order on Edmonds' Motion for Citation for Contempt and Sanctions, which allowed Edmonds to "conduct discovery to determine whether [Robinson] should be found in contempt and whether sanctions should be issued in this matter regarding the video surveillance tape." The trial court took Edmonds' Motion "under advisement until [Edmonds] has had the opportunity to conduct discovery to determine whether [Robinson] should be found in contempt and whether sanctions should be issued in this matter regarding the video surveillance tape." (CP-356-357).

August 10, 2007

Edmonds' conducted the 30(b)(6) depositions of three Robinson employees and the depositions of six other casino employees. (CP-391-396).

October 12, 2007

Following discovery on the issue of the videotape, Edmonds files his Amended Motion for Citation for Contempt and Sanctions, and Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs. (CP-426-616).

February 15, 2008

Following a discussion with the trial court judge's administrator regarding hearing dates (R.E.1-2), Edmonds files his Notice of Hearing regarding his Amended Motion for Citation for Contempt and Sanctions, and Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs, which set the hearing date for the date the trial was to begin. (CP-710-711).

March 13, 2008

The trial court denies Edmonds' Amended Motion for Citation for Contempt and Sanctions, and Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs, stating that it should have been noticed before the trial date. (Tr.-62-63). Needless to say, had the trial court judge's court administrator not advised Edmonds that the trial court judge would hear the Amended Motion on the date of trial since it was not dispositive (R.E. 1-2), Edmonds would have been more than happy to have argued it prior to the trial date. Edmonds followed the trial court's advise to his detriment.

March 13, 2008

Following Edmonds' presentation of his case in chief, the trial court grants Robinson's Motion for Directed Verdict. (T.r. 200).

April 14, 2008

Trial Court enters order granting Directed Verdict. (CP- 747-748).

April 30, 2008

Edmonds files his Notice of Appeal with this Court. (CP-753-754).

#### B. Statement of the Facts.

On or about February 12<sup>th</sup>, 2005 Edmonds was a business invitee of the Horshoe Casino in Tunica, Mississippi. Edmonds and his friend, Lisa Barciszewski, checked in to the hotel, gambled, and eventually went to one of the Casino dining areas to order food. While sitting at the bar, Edmonds was served with french fries when a stranger walked up and began taking fries off Edmonds' plate. After a short discussion, the stranger walked away. The stranger then returned and attacked Edmonds. The stranger violently struck Edmonds across the neck with his right arm knocking Edmonds backwards onto the casino floor. The stranger then pounced on Edmonds and continued the attack for approximately one minute and fifteen seconds. The video evidence shows several casino employees watching without assisting Edmonds. As a result of the attack and failure of Casino employees to intervene, Edmonds sustained serious injuries to his right shoulder.

The trial of this matter was held on March 13, 2008. Edmonds presented evidence, which created an issue of fact for the jury, as to whether the Casino was negligent to allow one minute and fifteen seconds to lapse prior to rendering assistance to their business invitee, Edmonds. Furthermore, Edmonds presented evidence, which created an issue of fact for the jury, as to whether

the Casino was negligent due to its security officers witnessing the attack and allowing it to continue as opposed to intervening. The Court erred by taking the aforementioned questions of fact from the jury and by granting a directed verdict.

Robinson intentionally hid evidence of the incident at issue for a year and a half after litigation was initiated. The Court allowed Edmonds to conduct costly discovery as to why it took so long for the video tape to be produced. Based upon the evidence discovered from Robinson's employees, the tape was never even requested until the Court compelled production of same and until partial summary judgment had been granted. Edmonds submitted a supplemental Motion for Sanctions based upon the newly discovered evidence, however, despite proper of notice of hearing, the Court refused to allow Edmonds to argue said motion, and summarily denied the same.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court abused its discretion in denying Edmonds' Amended Motion for Citation for Contempt and Sanctions, and Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs, and by not allowing Edmonds the opportunity to argue his Motion given that Edmonds had discovered numerous instances of discovery violations.

The trial court erred in granting directed verdict to Robinson. Edmonds presented ample evidence that created a question of fact for the jury as to whether the Casino was negligent to allow one minute and fifteen seconds to lapse prior to rendering assistance to their business invitee, Edmonds. Furthermore, Edmonds presented evidence, which created an issue of fact for the jury, as to whether the Casino was negligent due to its security officers witnessing the attack and allowing it to continue as opposed to intervening. The Court erred by taking the aforementioned questions of fact from the jury and by granting a directed verdict.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING EDMONDS' AMENDED MOTION FOR CITATION FOR CONTEMPT AND SANCTIONS, AND MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS, AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN NOT ALLOWING EDMONDS TO ARGUE SAID MOTION.

Robinson, by and through its attorney, intentionally and inexcusably withheld and hid properly discoverable evidence from the Plaintiff in this case. Not only was this a blatant violation of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, but also is in violation of the ethical duties members of the bar are sworn to uphold. The Court erred by refusing sanctions and by refusing to allow Edmonds to argue said motion following extensive discovery into the matter. M.R.C.P. 37(e) states that "the court may impose upon any party or counsel such sanctions as may be just, including the payment of reasonable expenses and attorneys' fees, if any party or counsel . . . otherwise abuses the discovery process in seeking, making or *resisting* discovery." (Emphasis added). In addition, the *comment* to M.R.C.P 37 discusses the great flexibility of the trial court in its form of a general grant of power which would enable it to deal summarily with discovery abuses, whenever and however the abuse is brought to the attention of the court:

For example, for the failure of a party to have made *proper* discovery, or for the misuse of the various discovery vehicles, the court may...impose monetary penalties according to the unnecessary expense to which the adverse party was put. It is significant that Rule 37(e) does not enumerate the sanctions available to the court; courts should have considerable latitude in fashioning sanctions suitable for particular applications.

(Emphasis added).

In Ford Motor Co. et. al. v. Tennin, 960 So. 2d. 379 (Miss. 2007), this court stated;

Under our rules of civil procedure, failure to make or cooperate in discovery should first be resolved by making a motion in the proper court requesting an order compelling such discovery. See M.R.C.P. 37(a)(2). The remedy for failing to comply with the discovery requests when the trial court grants an order to compel falls under M.R.C.P. 37(a)(4) in the form of awarding the moving party

the expenses for such a motion. See M.R.C.P. 37; *January v. Barnes*, 621 So. 2d 915, 922 (Miss.1992). After such an order to compel has been granted under M.R.C.P. 37(a)(2), and the party ordered to answer fails to respond, then the remedy may be sanctions in accordance with M.R.C.P. 37(b).

Tennin, 960 So. 2d. at 393 (quoting Caracci v. Int'l Paper Co., 699 So. 2d. 546, 577 (Miss. 1977) (emphasis in original)). In Willard vs. Paracelsus Health Care Corp., 681 So. 2d. 539 (Miss. 1996), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated, "[w]e have held that the award of attorney's fees against the losing party is mandatory under Rule 37(a)(4), unless the trial court finds that the motion to compel was substantially justified, and the award was not unjust." Id. at 545 (citing Barnes v. Confidential Party, 628 So. 2d 283, 292 (Miss. 1993)) (emphasis added).

Edmonds propounded discovery requests on Robinson on or around September 26, 2005, and again on May 19, 2006, requesting any video surveillance recordings of this incident. (CP-24-25). Robinson responded to Edmonds's discovery requests as follows on or around October 28, 2005, May 19, 2006, June 19, 2006, and July 11, 2006, stating the same response: "None." (CP-40-42, 498-520).

Additionally, on February 15, 2006, Robinson was served with a Subpoena Duces Tecum requesting among other things a copy of any video surveillance tape of the incident in question for the dates of February 9, 2005 until February 13, 2005. (CP- 79-82). Counsel for Robinson filed an Objection to Subpoena Duces Tecum stating that the information requested is overly broad among other things. (CP- 70-71). Additionally, on May 16, 2006, counsel for Robinson also wrote a letter to counsel for Edmonds stating that, in regard to the Subpoena Duces Tecum requesting copies of video surveillance tapes, Robinson "has completed a search of our records and can find no such record." (CP- 526-527).

Edmonds's Motion to Compel Discovery was filed on May 19, 2006. (CP- 91-95). This Motion was filed because Edmonds had been attempting to obtain a copy of any video surveillance

tape in Robinson's possession since 2005. Edmonds' Motion to Compel Discovery was brought on for hearing on December 7, 2006. (CP-227-230). On December 22, 2006, the trial court ordered Robinson to "make all reasonable efforts to locate all video surveillance tapes for the dates of February 10, 11 and 12, 2005, and should Robinson be unable to procure same, provide Edmonds with the written policy, internal operating procedure, manual, handbook, or otherwise for the maintaining of all video surveillance tapes and disposal of same." (CP-236-237). At this hearing, the trial court also granted Robinson partial summary judgment. (CP-232-233).

#### A. Misrepresentations to the Court.

Although counsel for Robinson advised the trial court at the hearing on December 7, 2006¹ that he had attempted to locate the tape and incident reports (CP-554, 558), and counsel for Robinson advised the Court again at the hearing on April 5, 2007² that he even went as far as personally going to search for the tape on five (5) separate occasions just to be sure that none existed (Tr.-10-11), this tape somehow mysteriously appeared after (1) numerous requests by Edmonds; (2) the Order of the trial court to produce same; and (3) the granting of partial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At the December 7, 2006 hearing, counsel for Robinson affirmatively stated that: "I have personally looked for tapes. I've personally cross-examined, cross-referenced every name that's involved in this, other than Albert Smith [...] and it's just not there."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At the April 5, 2007 hearing on Edmonds's Motion for Citation for Contempt and Sanctions, counsel for Robinson affirmatively stated that:

He makes two grounds for the sanctions, I think. And he can speak better to which one he is really flying on. But I think what he is saying is that Horseshoe should be sanctioned because it produced the videotape so late in the game. And I thought how best to respond to that before you today and I've got two or three things I want to tell you. First of all, we looked both in terms of Horseshoe people and <u>me personally</u>, at least five separate times and did not find a tape.

<sup>(</sup>Emphasis added). Despite counsel for Robinson's statements, Brenda Reyna Tyler and Vicki Clark both testified under oath that the tape was only requested on <u>one (1)</u> occasion, and as a result of this request and search accompanied with same, the tape of the altercation was located. (CP-567-568, 586). In fact, Brenda Reyna Tyler stated under oath that she was not asked to locate the video tape until after the trial court had granted the motion to compel. (CP-567-568).

summary judgment to Robinson. Not only does the tape capture one view of the altercation, there are numerous video cameras that capture numerous angles of the altercation, and Edmonds is followed (by different video cameras) from the time the attack started until he was escorted to his room. This includes surveillance of the altercation, Edmonds being escorted through the lobby to the elevators following the altercation, Edmonds exiting the elevators on the floor his room was located, and even being escorted into his room by the security guards.

The video surveillance tape only recently surfaced in 2007, some year and a half following the initiation of this lawsuit and requests of Edmonds.

As such, on February 28, 2007, Edmonds filed his Motion for Citation for Contempt and Sanctions (CP-254-306), which was based upon the video surveillance tape of the incident, that had been requested since September of 2005, ultimately being produced following the granting of partial summary judgment to Robinson(CP-232-233), and following the Order of the trial court compelling the productions of same. (CP-236-237).

200

On April 5, 2007, Edmonds' Motion for Citation for Contempt and Sanctions was brought on for hearing, (CP-324), and on May 4, 2007, the trial court entered an Order on Edmonds' Motion for Citation for Contempt and Sanctions, which allowed Edmonds to "conduct discovery to determine whether [Robinson] should be found in contempt and whether sanctions should be issued in this matter regarding the video surveillance tape." (CP-356-357). The trial court took Edmonds' Motion "under advisement until [Edmonds] has had the opportunity to conduct discovery to determine whether [Robinson] should be found in contempt and whether sanctions should be issued in this matter regarding the video surveillance tape." (CP-356-357).

At great expense<sup>3</sup> to Edmonds, he conducted discovery on the issue of the video surveillance tape, and despite counsel for Robinson's statements that he had personally attempted to locate the tape on numerous occasions, Brenda Reyna Tyler and Vicki Clark, employees of Robinson, both testified under oath that the tape was only requested on *one (1)* occasion, and as a result of this request and search accompanied with same, the tape of the altercation was located. (CP-567-568, 586). In fact, Brenda Reyna Tyler stated under oath that she was not asked to locate the video tape until after the trial court had granted the motion to compel. (CP-567-568). As such, Edmonds filed his Amended Motion for Citation for Contempt and Sanctions, and Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs. (CP-426-616).

# 1. Deposition Testimony of Brenda Reyna Tyler.

On August 10, 2007, Edmonds took the deposition of Brenda Reyna Tyler, a Robinson employee, who testified under oath that she was a surveillance operator at the Horseshoe Casino. (CP-566).

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