IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DANIEL EDMONDS

Appellant,

vs.

NO. 2008-CA-00759

ROBINSON PROPERTY GROUP, LIMITED PARTNERSHIIP, d/b/a HORSESHOE CASINO & HOTEL TUNICA; JOHN DOE 1; JOHN DOE 2; and JOHN DOE 3,

Appellees.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

APPEALED FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TUNICA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CIVIL ACTION 2005-0286

> Robert L. Moore, Esq. Dawn Davis Carson, Esq. J. Chandley Crawford, Esq. HEATON AND MOORE, P.C. 100 North Main, Suite 3400 Memphis, Tennessee 38103 901-526-5975

Attorneys for Appellee

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DANIEL EDMONDS

Appellant,

vs.

NO. 2008-CA-00759

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

ARGUMENT RELEVANT TO THE MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT

The standard of review of a motion for directed verdict is de novo. If this Court finds that the evidence favorable to the non-moving party, along with reasonable inferences drawn therefrom present a jury question, then the motion should not have been granted. *Pace v. Fin Sec. Life of Miss.*, 608 So.2d 1135 (Miss. 1992), *Entergy Miss., Inc. v. Bolden*, 854 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Miss. 2003). In the case before this court, the trial court correctly found that the plaintiff failed to prove that it was reasonably foreseeable that another patron would attack him and that the defendant had the opportunity to intervene in such a way as to avoid injury to the plaintiff. The plaintiff likewise failed to prove that there was an "atmosphere of violence" at the defendant's casino such that the defendant would be on notice of the danger.

Premises liability is a theory of negligence where a duty for the premises owner arises by virtue of his ownership and control over the premises where others may be injured, and the duty owed depends on the status of the person on the premises. *Corley v. Evans*, 835 So.2d 30 (Miss. 2003). A patron of a casino is a business invitee of that establishment. *Estate of White ex. rel White v. Rainbow Casino-Vicksburg Partnership*, 910 So.2d 713, 719 (Miss. App. 2005). A premises owner is not an insurer of the business invitee's safety but has a duty to exercise reasonable care to protect the business invitee from reasonably foreseeable injury at the hands of other patrons. *Lyle v. Mladinich* 584 So.2d 397, 399 (Miss. 1991).

In Simpson v. Boyd, a former employee of a law office sued her former boss after she was assaulted at the office one morning by an intruder. 880 So.2d 1047, 1051 (Miss. 2004). The Mississippi Supreme Court upheld summary judgment for the employer because the plaintiff had offered no evidence that the type of crime committed against her perpetrated by a man who

simply walked into the office off the street, was reasonably foreseeable. *Id.* at 1052. In trying to prove foreseeability, the plaintiff offered evidence that the law office was located in a high-crime area, that there had been a handful of verbal exchanges in the office between clients and the lawyer and that there had even been a couple of minor criminal instances over a three year period. *Id.* However, the Court ruled that in order for the plaintiff to recover she would have to establish an "atmosphere of violence" evidenced by an "overall pattern of criminal activity prior to the event in question that occurred in the general vicinity of the defendant's business premises" or a "frequency of criminal activity on the premises" sufficient to put the defendant on constructive notice of the danger. *Id.* The Court observed that this evidentiary burden was necessary because a lower standard would "open the door to nearly per se liability for premises owners" when an invitee is attacked by someone on the premises. *Id.*

The plaintiff offered zero evidence that Robinson Property Group, L.P. could reasonably foresee that Daniel Edmonds would be attacked by another patron or that this "foresight" would have proximately avoided the injuries and damages of which the plaintiff is now complaining. On this point, the plaintiff's own deposition and trial testimony, is quite clear the he did not warn any security guards about the troublesome patron after the first incident, the plaintiff did not see security guards until after he was attacked and that the fight ended when a security guard appeared on the scene.

- Q: When he did that [eat your fries], did you report that to a security officer?
- A: No.
- Q: Did you try to get the attention of a security officer?
- A: I didn't think I needed any security at that point.

- Q: Did you see a security officer in the area?
- A: No, not at that point.

(Appellee R.E. 10).

- Q: At the point you were hit and before that point, had you seen any security officers in the area?
- A: Not that I can remember.
- Q: So the first time you saw a security officer was after he had hit you several times?
- A: No, that's not---It was in the middle of him hitting me.
- Q: Had he hit you several times?
- A: Yes, he had hit me several times.
- Q: Was that the first time that you had seen a security officer, after he had hit you several times?
- A: Yes.

Id.

- Q: Go ahead and keep watching [Exhibit 2-videotape]. Tell me when it starts.
- A: Right now.
- Q: All right, right now. Now, you tell me when it stops.(videotape playing)
- Q: Is it still going on?
- A: Yes, it is.
- Q: Are you still in the frame?
- A: I think we're in the corner here.
- Q: Is it still going?

A: Yes, everybody is still watching.

Q: You are still in the frame?

A: No. No, I'm not. I can't see myself.

Q: Tell me when the fight stops.

A: Okay.

(videotape playing)

Q: Is it still going on?

A: Yes, it is.

Q: Tell me when it stops?

A: That pretty much was it.

Q: Now, you are saying it's over with. Now, on your oath, Mr. Kobs [sic], did the fight end when the security guard entered the screen from the right to the left? Mr. Kobs, I be you [sic] pardon, Mr. Edmonds.

A: Yes, it did. When the security guard entered the screen, that's when the fight stopped.

(R. Tran. pp. 110-111, ll. 4-29, 1-3).

Mississippi law requires the plaintiff to present evidence that an "atmosphere of violence" existed at the Horseshoe Casino which would put the casino on notice that an attack by a patron was reasonably foreseeable and that the defendant would have then had the opportunity to intervene in such a way as to avoid injury to the plaintiff. The plaintiff failed to offer any evidence that the attack was foreseeable, any evidence that an "atmosphere of violence" existed in the casino or any evidence that the defendant had an opportunity to intervene in a manner that would have prevented injury. According to the plaintiff's own testimony he was already under

attack when the first security guards appeared. He further testified that the altercation was sudden, unexpected, unforeseeable and unprovoked.

Q: Was there anything about the man's manner or demeanor besides being rude that you thought required a security officer?

A: Not up to that point, no.

Q: Was there anything about his manner or demeanor up to the point that he attached you from the rear that made you fearful that he would attack you?

A: Not fearful that he would attack me.

Q: He wasn't being loud?

A: No.

Q: Had it [sic] touched you in any way up until this point?

A: No.

(Appellee R.E. 10).

If the plaintiff sustained any injury, it was sustained in the initial assault and there is no testimony for the proposition that he sustained any additional injury as a proximate result of the fight lasting longer that it "should have." In fact, the plaintiff's testimony, as set out above, plainly states that when the security officer appeared on the scene the fight ended.

In addition, the defendant cannot be held to reasonably foresee injuries by a plaintiff who may have invited the attack. By his own words, the plaintiff engaged his attacker after an initial verbal altercation and after John Doe 3 had already walked away. In deposition testimony, Edmonds stated:

"The fries were by me and he started eating them and I said, "Hey, sir, do you know you're eating my French fries," and he came back with---I don't remember the exact comment but basically, you know, mind your own business or leave me alone or something to that extent. And the he sort of, you know, pushed the fries back at me after he had ate a few of them. So I didn't think much about it. I

seen him walk away because you could tell that he was intoxicated and he was stumbling a little bit."

(Appellee R.E. 10).

- Q: Mr. Edmonds, tell me about what happened. And I know you kind of described it a bit earlier. But tell me again what happened, from the moment you arrived at the Horseshoe Casino?
- A:John Doe did come and eat my French fries. We had said a few words. I don't even remember what they were. I couldn't understand what he was saying back to me anyway. When he did come back, he---like they were saying, he would step back from whatever reason. Then he would come back to the bar right next to me. I did slide the fries down to him. And I said, "There you go, sir. You eat the fries. I don't want them." In a little bit of a rude more that....

(R. Tran. p. 93).

By further confronting, John Doe 3, the plaintiff invited the attack, a fact which Robinson Property Group could never foresee that an invitee would do. The Mississippi Supreme Court has set a reasonable bar for patrons attacked by other patrons to recover from the premises owner: the owner must be on notice of a dangerous "atmosphere of violence." The plaintiff failed to prove, and by his own testimony affirmatively disproves, that there was an atmosphere of violence at the Horseshoe Casino. The plaintiff testified that there was nothing about the attacker that put him in fear or caused him to feel the need to approach a security officer to report the incident up until the point he was attacked. The plaintiff further testified that in a "rude" manner he returned the French fries to John Doe 3 after John Doe 3 walked away from the altercation. Without an "atmosphere of violence," and in the face of unforeseeable provocation, there is no reasonably foreseeable injury. Without a reasonably foreseeable injury, the plaintiff has not met his burden of proof and directed verdict in favor of the defendant is correct.

VII.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE RELEVANT TO THE MOTIONS FOR CONTEMPT AND FOR SANCTIONS

On or about, February 28, 2007 counsel for the Plaintiff filed his first Motion for Citation for Contempt and for Sanctions. (Appellee R.E. 11). Defendant responded to this Motion on April 5, 2007. (Appellee R.E. 12). The trial court entered an Amended Order on May 4, 2007 in which the Court determined that it would take the matter under advisement until such time as the Plaintiff had the opportunity to conduct additional discovery into the matter. (Appellee R.E. 13). On or about, October 12, 2007 the Plaintiff filed his Amended Motion for Citation for Contempt and Sanctions which the Defendant responded to on December 11, 2007. (Appellee R.E. 14, Appellee R.E. 16). The plaintiff Noticed hearing of his motion for December 18, 2007, the day before the trial was to begin. (Appellee R.E. 15). On December 17, 2007 the court issued an Order resetting the trial for March 13, 2008. (Appellee R.E. 17). In the Pre-Trial statement filed on February 1, 2008, Plaintiff's counsel listed the Amended Motion for Contempt and Sanctions. (Appellee R.E. 18). On February 15, 2008, the Plaintiff Re-Noticed the hearing on his motion for March 13, 2008, the day on which the trial was set to begin. (Appellee R.E. 19). The trial judge denied the Motion on the basis of his review of the pleadings. (R. Trans. pp. 62-63, Il. 22-29, 1-3.)

VIII.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS RELEVANT TO THE MOTION FOR CONTEMPT AND FOR SACTIONS

The defendant's first notice of this claim, that later became this Complaint, came by way of certified letter dated April 7, 2005, from Attorney J. Kevin Rundlett. (Appellee R.E. 16). Mr. Rundlett's letter alleges that on February 14, 2004 [sic] the plaintiff was injured as a result of an unspecified "incident" that had occurred at the Horseshoe Casino. *Id.* Upon receipt of that notice, an investigation was begun resulting in a finding that "we have checked our records and we do not have a report this incident." *Id.* The reports of that investigation were reported to Mr. Rundlett by fax dated April 13, 2005. *Id.* A follow-up investigation performed by a separate legal coordinator for the defendant confirmed that "there was no incident report filed by Daniel Edmonds on this date for either the Horseshoe Tunica or Harrah's Tunica property. *Id.* Vickie Clark, Risk Manager at the Horseshoe property, contacted the attorney and requested that Daniel Edmonds come in and file an incident report. To this date, he has not." *Id.*

On September 28, 2005, the plaintiff filed suit against Harrah's Tunica Corporation [sic] alleging that on February 14, 2004 [sic], he was injured during an altercation with another guest. *Id.* Discovery which was filed along with the Complaint asked the defendant to produce information concerning security guards who were working and restaurants which were open on February 15, 2004. [sic] The case was assigned to defense counsel and a claims file (Exhibit 1 attached to original Response, under seal for *in camera* review only) consisting of all of the information known to the defendant was forwarded to defense counsel for his use in defending the case. Harrah's Tunica Corporation (which at one time did business as the Harrah's Casino & Hotel but which has never done business as the Horseshoe Casino & Hotel) filed its Answer,

denying any knowledge whatsoever concerning the event described in the Complaint, and propounded discovery all in an effort to determine the truth of the allegations which were being made against it.

In addition to propounding formal discovery to the plaintiff, on October 25, 2005, defense counsel contacted the risk manager for the old Harrah's (now Resorts), in an effort to determine whether the incident had occurred at the old Harrah's rather than at the Horseshoe. *Id.* In addition, defense counsel spoke or met directly with the Risk Manager for Horseshoe on November 9, 2005, January 13, 2006, January 24, 2006, January 27, 2006, March 11, 2006, April 28, 2006, June 15, 2006 and on July 11, 2006, always concerning any additional avenues that might be explored in an effort to locate any record, anywhere concerning this incident. *Id.* (Exhibit 2 attached to original Response, under seal for *in camera* review only). Each time, the answer was that there was no record of the incident. *Id.* This fact was reported to the client by correspondence dated October 19, 2005, October 31, 2005, November 4, 2005, January 12, 2006, January 17, 2006, February 7, 2006, May 16, 2006, August 22, 2006, and December 9, 2006. *Id.* (Exhibit 3 attached to original Response, under seal for *in camera* review only).

On January 9, 2006, the plaintiff gave his sworn deposition, this time testifying that the incident occurred on **February 11, 2005** [sic] at **2:30 a.m.** [sic], after he had checked in at 1:30 a.m. that same morning and before he had checked out that same day.

While defense counsel was conducting discovery in compliance with the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, plaintiff's counsel was issuing *ex parte* subpoenas in violation of Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. An *ex parte* subpoena issued by plaintiff's counsel, without notice to defense counsel, on February 10, 2006, seeking all files, all incident reports and all surveillance videos was served upon Robinson Property Group, whose officers had naively

prepared a response to that subpoena and was preparing to send it directly to plaintiff's counsel before contacting defense counsel. *Id.* A true and correct copy of the response that was prepared is marked as Exhibit 4 (attached to original Response), under seal for *in camera* review only.

Robinson Property Group has no Security Department record, however described, for any incident occurring on the date and at the time as alleged by the plaintiff in his original Complaint, in his first Amended Complaint, in his second Amended Complaint, in his initial discovery requests or in his deposition. A great deal of time, effort and expense was incurred responding to this Complaint filed against a wrong party and then diligently searching for records that do not exist. However, due largely to efforts outside of the pleadings, a videotape of an incident involving an unknown black male and an unknown white male was located and produced to adverse counsel just as soon as it was located. Id. The videotape documents an incident that occurred at approximately 6:00 a.m. on February 12, 2005, which is both a date and a time different from the allegations of the original, first and second amended Complaints. Id. It was not until a third Amended Complaint was filed in July 2007, that the plaintiff finally correctly stated a cause of action against Robinson Property Group for the incident that occurred on that date. The only corroborating proof that this incident occurred is the videotape involving "two unknown males." There is no Security Department Incident Report of the incident whatsoever.

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